RECEIVED

Nov 25 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE JOCELYN NEWMAN
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000813
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2019-CP-21-40-06914

Opinion No. 6070 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 10, 2024)

Spring Valley Interests, LLC,

PETITIONER,

versus

The Best for Last, LLC,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Carmen V. Ganjehsani (S.C. Bar No. 73515)
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA
Post Office Drawer 7788
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 771-4400
cganjehsani@richardsonplowden.com

Kenneth R. Raynor (S.C. Bar No. 11654)
RAYNOR LAW FIRM, PLLC

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to hold that the non-donative Purchase Option is enforceable and not subject to any rule against perpetuities under the express language of the South Carolina Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities?

- II. In the alternative, if the common law rule against perpetuities applies to the Purchase Option, does an implied term that the Purchase Option would be exercised within a reasonable amount of time operate to prevent the Purchase Option from violating the common law rule against perpetuities?

INTRODUCTION

The central question raised by this appeal presents a novel issue which has not yet been addressed by this Court. In particular, this appeal asks this Court to determine if the common law rule against perpetuities exists in light of the General Assembly's enactment of the South Carolina Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities. Additionally, this appeal asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' erroneous construction of the General Assembly's plain and unambiguous language in the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities which exempts certain interests, including nondonative transfers, from any required time period for vesting.

The Court of Appeals' fundamental misapprehension of the operation of the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities warrants review by this Court. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 242(b) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, Petitioner Spring Valley Interests, LLC ("Spring Valley") requests this Court to grant its Petition for Writ of Certiorari to correct the Court of Appeals' misguided interpretation of the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appeal in this matter stems from Spring Valley's action to enforce a contractual purchase option contained in a loan agreement between Spring Valley's predecessor and Respondent The Best for Last, LLC ("Best") in which Spring Valley's predecessor loaned \$800,000.00 to Best for the purchase of certain real property.

On December 11, 2019, Spring Valley filed a complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for Richland County against Best in which Spring Valley sought specific performance to enforce an option to purchase certain property owned by Best or, in the alternative, actual damages for Best's breach of contract. [R.pp. 4-8.] The option arose out of a loan agreement entered into between Spring Valley's predecessor, White Limited Interests Partnership, and Best on May 3, 2017 under which White Limited Interests Partnership loaned Best the sum of \$800,000.00 for Best to purchase the property at issue. Under the terms of the loan agreement, Best granted an option to White Limited Interests Partnership to purchase a 74.425% undivided co-tenancy interest in the property for a purchase price of \$800,000.00. [R.pp. 4-5.] The option (the "Purchase Option") provided:

Lender's Purchase Option. In consideration for making the Loan, the Borrower hereby grants to Lender the perpetual option to purchase a 74.425% undivided co-tenancy interest in the Property (the "**Purchase Option**") for a purchase price of Eight Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (the "**Purchase Price**"). The Purchase Option shall be exercised at the Lender's sole option by delivery of written notice no later than thirty (30) days before the intended closing. The Purchase Price shall be paid in cash or immediately available funds at the Closing. The Lender shall hold take title to the co-tenancy interest subject to (i) no mortgages other than the Borrower's then outstanding first lien mortgage, and (ii) a mutually acceptable co-tenancy agreement. The Purchase Option is freely assignable by the Lender.

[R.p. 11.]

On August 21, 2019, White Limited Interests Partnership gave notice to Best exercising its

option to purchase the property. Subsequently, on September 12, 2019, White Limited Interests Partnership assigned, conveyed, and transferred to Spring Valley all of its right, title, and interest with respect to the Purchase Option and transfer of the property at issue to Spring Valley. [R.pp. 5-6.] Best thereafter refused to comply with the terms of the loan agreement and obligation to transfer the 74.425% undivided co-tenancy interest in the property to Spring Valley, and Spring Valley's lawsuit against Best for specific performance or, in the alternative, actual damages followed. [R.pp. 4-8.]

On January 17, 2020, Best answered the complaint and also asserted counterclaims, seeking, among other things, a declaration that the Purchase Option was void because it violated South Carolina's Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities ("SCUSRAP"), S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 27-6-10 *et al.*, and the common law rule against perpetuities. [R.pp. 15-24.] Spring Valley replied to the Counterclaim on March 17, 2020, denying its material allegations. [R.pp. 44-50.]

On April 16, 2021, Best filed a motion for partial summary judgment, seeking, in part, a judgment that the Purchase Option was unenforceable. [R.pp. 53-62.] Best also contended that Spring Valley waived the right to exercise the Purchase Option because the parties had allegedly agreed to terms to close on the exercise of the Purchase Option and transfer of the property, but Spring Valley did not complete the deal. [R.pp. 63-64.] On April 29, 2021, Spring Valley also moved for summary judgment seeking specific performance of the Purchase Option and dismissal of the counterclaims. [R.pp. 65-90.] Spring Valley also disputed Best's claim that the parties had reached a complete agreement on the terms for the closing of the Purchase Option, noting that Best had refused to pay certain fees. [R.pp. 70-72.]

On August 26, 2021, The Honorable Jocelyn Newman heard the motions for summary

judgment. [R.pp. 99-129.] On May 18, 2022, the Trial Court denied Spring Valley's motion for summary judgment, granted Best's motion for partial summary judgment, and dismissed Spring Valley's claims for declaratory relief and specific performance. In so ruling, the Trial Court found the Purchase Option was void pursuant to the common law rule against perpetuities. The Trial Court further ruled that the SCUSRAP did not supersede or replace the common law as to nondonative transfers, such as the Purchase Option, and thus the provisions of the SCUSRAP did not protect the enforceability of the Purchase Option. [R.pp. 1-3.]

On or about June 13, 2022, Spring Valley appealed the Trial Court's grant of summary judgment to the Court of Appeals. [R.pp. 51-52.] On July 10, 2024, the Court of Appeals issued its Opinion affirming the Trial Court's ruling that the Purchase Option was void under the common law rule against perpetuities and not saved by the provisions of the SCUSRAP. The Court of Appeals further held that an implied term of a reasonable time did not exist in the Purchase Option to prevent the Purchase Option from violating the common law rule against perpetuities. See Opinion No. 6070 (Ct. App. July 10, 2024). On August 9, 2024, Spring Valley filed a petition for rehearing of the Court of Appeals' Opinion, which was denied on October 25, 2024. Spring Valley now petitions this Court to grant Spring Valley's writ of certiorari for review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to hold that the non-donative Purchase Option is enforceable and not subject to any rule against perpetuities under the express language of the South Carolina Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities.

In 1987, the General Assembly enacted the SCUSRAP, S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 27-6-10 *et al.*, based upon the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities promulgated by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws. See UNIF. STATUTORY RULE AGAINST PERPETUITIES §§ 1 *et al.*; see also Abrams v. Templeton, 320 S.C. 325, 327 n.3, 465 S.E.2d 117, 119 n.3 (Ct. App. 1995). The SCUSRAP provides a comprehensive statutory scheme regarding the validity of nonvested property interests and powers of appointment.

The SCUSRAP is contained in Chapter 6 of Title 27 (Property and Conveyances) of the South Carolina Code. Chapter 6 of Title 27 is cited as the “Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-6-10. The SCUSRAP applies to nonvested property interests created on or after July 1, 1987. S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-6-60.

Section 27-6-20 of Chapter 6 provides the general rule with respect to the enforceability of nonvested property interests. Under Section 27-6-20(A), a nonvested property interest is invalid unless:

- (1) when the interest is created, it is certain to vest or terminate no later than twenty-one years after the death of an individual then alive; or
- (2) the interest either vests or terminates within ninety years after its creation [commonly known as the “wait and see” provision].

§ 27-6-20(A).

The General Assembly chose to exempt seven categories of interests from the vesting time period requirements of Section 27-6-20. Relevant to this appeal, Section 27-6-50 states:

Section 27-6-20 does not apply to:

(1) a nonvested property interest or a power or appointment arising out of a nondonative transfer[.]

§ 27-6-50. The parties do not dispute that the Purchase Option constitutes a nondonative transfer.

The SCUSRAP further provides “[t]his chapter shall be applied and construed to effectuate its general purpose to make uniform the law with respect to the subject of this chapter among the states construing it.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-6-70.

Finally, the SCUSRAP mandates “[t]his chapter [referring to Chapter 6 of Title 27 of the South Carolina Code] supersedes the common law rule against perpetuities.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 27-6-80. It is the operation of this section of the SCUSRAP in conjunction with Section 27-6-50 that forms the basis for the primary dispute in this appeal.

The Trial Court and the Court of Appeals interpreted Section 27-6-50, which sets forth exceptions to the vesting requirements of Section 27-6-20, as meaning that the seven categories of interests, including nondonative transfers, were exempt entirely from the statutory scheme created in the SCUSRAP. Based upon this erroneous conclusion, the courts then determined that because the SCUSRAP did not apply to nondonative transfers, the SCUSRAP did not supersede or replace the common law rule against perpetuities as to nondonative transfers and the common law thus invalidated the Purchase Option.

Respectfully, Spring Valley submits this construction of the SCUSRAP misapprehends and misinterprets the plain, unambiguous language of the SCUSRAP and defeats the clear intent expressed by the General Assembly. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581

(2000). Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. In re Vincent J., 333 S.C. 233, 235, 509 S.E.2d 261, 262 (1998) (citations omitted). “Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning. . . . What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” Hodges, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581 (citations omitted).

The SCUSRAP was drafted to embody the entire law on the rule against perpetuities. To effectuate this intent, the General Assembly stated in Section 27-6-80: “This chapter supersedes the common law rule against perpetuities.” “This chapter” refers to the entire Chapter 6 of Title 27 of the South Carolina Code, meaning that each provision in the chapter now “obliterates” and “replaces” the common law rule against perpetuities. See Opinion No. 6070 (Ct. App. July 10, 2024) (observing the term “supersede” is defined in Black's Law Dictionary as “obliterate, set aside, annul, *replace*, ... [t]o set aside.” *Supersede*, *Black's Law Dictionary* (6th ed. 1990)).

The plain language of the SCUSRAP shows that the General Assembly intended to change the common law of perpetuities and replace it with the enacted statutory scheme. While the common law is not to be changed by “doubtful implication,” it can be overturned by “clear and unambiguous language.” Coakley v. Tidewater Const. Corp., 194 S.C. 284, 9 S.E.2d 724, 726 (1940) (citation omitted). And here, in Section 27-6-80 of the SCUSRAP, the General Assembly used clear and unambiguous language to express its intent that the common law no longer exists as to the rule against perpetuities and is instead replaced by Chapter 6 of Title 27 of the South Carolina Code. The SCUSRAP provides a complete scheme with respect to the rule against

perpetuities. See Hitachi Elec. Devices (USA), Inc. v. Platinum Techs., Inc., 366 S.C. 163, 170, 621 S.E.2d 38, 41 (2005) (“Only where the U.C.C. is incomplete does the common law provide applicable rules.”).

While the plain language of the SCUSRAP leaves no room for interpretation, the intent to completely replace the common law rule against perpetuities with a comprehensive statutory scheme was also expressed in the preamble of the bill introduced proposing the enactment of the SCUSRAP: “A Bill to amend Title 27, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, relating to property and conveyances, by adding Chapter 6 so as to **abolish** the common law rule against perpetuities and replace it with a statutory rule against perpetuities which adopts provisions which prevent the defeat of the transferor's intent.” 1987 Act No. 12, § 1 (emphasis added). The purpose of the bill could not be any clearer – the General Assembly expressly stated it intended to “abolish” the common law rule against perpetuities.

There is no more common law rule against perpetuities in existence in South Carolina with respect to interests created after July 1, 1987. The validity or invalidity of an interest must be determined pursuant to the provisions of the SCUSRAP. Had the General Assembly intended any common law regarding the rule against perpetuities to remain, it could have done so as it has done in other statutes. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-17-50 (“The provisions of this article are cumulative and shall not be construed as repealing any existing statute or the common law of this State with respect to the subject matter of any of the provisions hereof.”); S.C. CODE ANN. § 40-57-350(M) (“The provisions of this section which are inconsistent with applicable principles of common law supersede the common law, and the common law may be used to aid in interpreting or clarifying the duties described in this section.”). Instead, in the SCUSRAP, the General Assembly used

absolute language that the common law was superseded by its enactment.

Second, Section 27-6-50 of the SCUSRAP does not state that the seven categories of interests, including nondonative transfers, are exempted from Chapter 6 such that the SCUSRAP does not apply. Instead, Section 27-6-50 expressly states “Section 27-6-20 does not apply to” the seven categories of interests listed. Section 27-6-20 is the statutory provision of the SCUSRAP that sets forth the required vesting time periods for a nonvested interest to remain valid. The General Assembly, by exempting certain categories of interests from the vesting requirements of Section 27-6-20, has made the determination that these interests, including nondonative transfers, are not subject to any vesting time requirements and remain valid without any regard to vesting requirements.

The intent of the General Assembly to remove these seven categories of interests from vesting time requirements is further expressed by its inclusion of a catch-all provision which states Section 27-6-20 does not apply to “(7) a property interest, power of appointment, or arrangement that was not subject to the common law rule against perpetuities” In Section 27-6-50, the General Assembly intended to remove certain interests from the time requirements of Section 27-6-20, and to ensure that it did not omit any interest, it included this catch-all provision to ensure that any interests which were not previously subject to the common law would also not be subject to the vesting requirements under the SCUSRAP. It is clear under the language of Section 27-6-50 that the General Assembly intended every interest listed in this section not be subject to the requirements of Section 27-6-20 for validity and that these interests would remain valid under the SCUSRAP irrespective of any failure to vest within a certain time period.

This Court does not need to go beyond the plain language of the SCUSRAP to reach the

conclusion that the interests listed in Section 27-6-50, including nondonative interests such as the Purchase Option here, remain valid irrespective of any failure to include a vesting time period. For this Court's reference, however, other courts and authorities have interpreted similarly plain language in the manner as urged by Spring Valley.

First, the construction of the SCUSRAP is consistent with the intent behind the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities drafted by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws upon which South Carolina's statute is based. The comments to Section 4 of the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities, which is titled "Exclusions from Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities" and mirrors Section 27-6-50 of the South Carolina Code, are instructive. Significantly, the comments to Section 4 describe its purpose as follows:

Section 4 lists seven exclusions from the Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities (Statutory Rule). Some are declaratory of existing law; others are contrary to existing law. Since the Common-law Rule Against Perpetuities is superseded by this Act . . . , **a nonvested property interest, power of appointment, or other arrangement excluded from the Statutory Rule by this section is not subject to any rule against perpetuities, statutory or otherwise.**

EXCLUSIONS FROM STATUTORY RULE AGAINST PERPETUITIES., UNIF. STATUTORY RULE AGAINST PERPETUITIES § 4, cmt.

The comments to Section 4 of the Uniform Statutory Rule further expound upon the rationale for excluding nondonative transfers from the time constraints of the rule against perpetuities. As explained in the comments, "[i]n line with long-standing scholarly commentary, subsection (1) [of Section 4 of the Uniform Statutory Rule] excludes . . . nonvested property interests and powers of appointment arising out of a nondonative transfer. The rationale for this exclusion is that the Rule Against Perpetuities is a wholly inappropriate instrument of social policy

to use as a control over such arrangements. The period of the rule--a life in being plus 21 years-- is not suitable for nondonative transfers, and this point applies with equal force to the 90-year allowable waiting period under the wait-and-see element of Section 1 because that period represents an approximation of the period of time that would be produced, on average, by using a statutory list identifying actual measuring lives and adding a 21-year period following the death of the survivor.” Id.

The comments recognize that excluding nondonative transfers from the common law rule against perpetuities is contrary to existing common law, which generally applies to nondonative transfers. The Uniform Statutory Rule was drafted to change the application of the common law rule to nondonative transfers due to the inappropriateness of using the period of a life in being plus 21 years to cases of commercial transactions. Id.; see also Wong v. Di Grazia, 60 Cal. 2d 525, 533, 386 P.2d 817 (1963) (“Since the rule against perpetuities was born in a society which extolled the tight ownership of inherited real property, it does not facilely operate as to commercial agreements in today's dynamic economy. The period of lives in being and 21 years, which works admirably with regard to gift transactions for family purposes, has no significance in the world of commercial affairs.”) (internal citation omitted).

Other jurisdictions which have adopted the Uniform Statutory Rule have concluded, in accord with the commentary above, that under the Uniform Statutory Rule, nondonative transfers are excepted from any rule against perpetuities. In Juliano & Sons Enters., Inc. v. Chevron, U.S.A., Inc., 593 A.2d 814, 817-18 (N.J. Super. Ct., App. Div. 1991), the court held that New Jersey’s enactment of the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities abolished common law such that a right of first refusal was no longer subject to the common law rule against perpetuities.

The court determined that the new statute “embodie[d] the entire law of the State of New Jersey, as of its effective date, with respect to the rule against perpetuities and because nondonative transfers, like the first right of refusal at issue, were excepted from the statutory rule, nondonative transfers were not subject to any rule against perpetuities. Id.

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