RECEIVED

Jan 09 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-40-06914
Appellate Case No.: 2022-000813

Opinion No. 6070 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 10, 2024)

Spring Valley Interests, LLC,Petitioner,

v.

The Best For Last, LLC,Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Kirby D. Shealy III (S.C. Bar No. 11556)
Adams and Reese LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: (803) 254-4190
Facsimile: (803) 779-4749
kirby.shealy@arlaw.com

Attorney for Respondent The Best For Last, LLC.

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

The Court of Appeals correctly observed that this statutory framework raises a critical question: if nondonative transfers are excluded from the SCUSRAP, does the statute abrogate the common law rule in this context? The Court of Appeals held that it does not. As statutes in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed, the Court found no clear legislative intent to abolish the CLRAP for nondonative transfers. *See Doe v. Marion*, 361 S.C. 463, 473, 605

S.E.2d 556, 561 (Ct. App. 2004). Since an alternative interpretation that preserves the CLRAP for nondonative transfers is reasonable, the Court of Appeals reasonably concluded that the SCUSRAP does not abrogate the common law rule in this context.

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals “misapprehend[ed] and misinterpret[ed] the plain, unambiguous language of the SCUSRAP and defeat[ed] the clear intent expressed by the General Assembly.” Pet. Cert. 6. In support of its argument, Petitioner improperly relies on extrinsic sources—such as the preamble of the bill proposing the SCUSRAP, unadopted commentary to the Uniform Act, and inapposite case law from other jurisdictions. *Id.* at 8-12. However, under South Carolina law, courts are bound to apply the plain meaning of clear and unambiguous statutes without resorting to extrinsic interpretation. *Eidson v. S.C. Dep't of Educ.*, 444 S.C. 166, 196, 906 S.E.2d 345, 360–61 (2024) (“When the text is not ambiguous, then what the General Assembly said in the text is what the General Assembly meant and intended. In the face of a plain text, extraneous sources—such as legislative history—are of no value in the search for meaning. Using them would be like consulting an unreliable map after one has already arrived at his destination. At best, they represent unenacted legislative intent.”); *see also Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000); *In re Vincent J.*, 333 S.C. 233, 509 S.E.2d 261 (1998).

The SCUSRAP’s plain language explicitly excludes nondonative transfers from its scope, *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-6-50, leaving the common law rule intact for such transactions. *See Coakley v. Tidewater Const. Corp.*, 194 S.C. 284, 9 S.E.2d 724, 726 (1940) (citing *Nuckolls v. Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Company*, 192 S.C. 156, 5 S.E.2d 862 (1939)) (“[R]ules of the common law are not to be changed by doubtful implication, or overturned except by clear and unambiguous language.”); *see also Singleton v. State*, 313 S.C. 75, 83, 437 S.E.2d 53, 58 (1993) (“The common law remains in full force and effect in South Carolina unless changed by clear and

unambiguous legislative enactment.”); *cf. Hitachi Elec. Devices (USA), Inc. v. Platinum Techs., Inc.*, 366 S.C. 163, 170, 621 S.E.2d 38, 41 (2005) (“Only where the U.C.C. is incomplete does the common law provide applicable rules.”). It is undisputed that the Purchase Option involves a nondonative transfer, meaning the SCUSRAP does not apply, and the CLRAP governs.

C. Petitioner’s extrinsic interpretation of the SCUSRAP fails.

TBFL maintains that the plain language of the statute governs and that the Court need not resort to extrinsic tools of statutory interpretation. However, even if the Court considers the extrinsic arguments raised in the Petition, those arguments fail.

First, Petitioner cites to the preamble of the bill proposing the enactment of the SCUSRAP. Pet. Cet. 8. The preamble states that this is a “Bill to amend Title 27, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, relating to property and conveyances, by adding Chapter 6 so as to abolish the common law rule against perpetuities and replace it with a statutory rule against perpetuities” 1987 Act No. 12, § 1. Petitioner places much emphasis on the use of the word “abolish” to argue the General Assembly clearly intended to “abolish” the CLRAP. Pet. Cert. 8-9. However, the General Assembly elected not to use the word “abolish” in the text of the statute, instead stating that “[t]his chapter *supersedes* the common law rule against perpetuities.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-6-80 (emphasis added).

Moreover, the General Assembly indicated in the Bill that, to the extent the statute “abolishes” the common law rule, it intends to “replace it with a statutory rule against perpetuities.” 1987 Act No. 12, § 1. Because the statutory rule expressly excludes nondonative transfers from its scope, the CLRAP was not replaced for such transfers. This demonstrates the General Assembly did not intend to abolish the CLRAP in situations where the statutory rule does not apply.

Second, Petitioner invokes comments to the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities drafted by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws to speculate on the South Carolina General Assembly's unexpressed intent. *See* Pet. Cert. 10-11. Had the General Assembly intended to adopt this commentary, it could have done so explicitly. It did not.

Third, Petitioner contends that other jurisdictions adopting the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities have concluded that “nondonative transfers are excepted *from any rule against perpetuities.*” *Id.* at 11 (emphasis added). In support of this sweeping statement, Petitioner cites only two cases from other jurisdictions: New Jersey and California. *Id.* at 11-12. These cases, however, are outliers and contradict the majority rule, which holds that “[t]he Uniform Statutory Rule [A]gainst Perpetuities does not replace the common law rule against perpetuities as to preemptive rights arising from nondonative transfers” 70 C.J.S. Perpetuities § 50.

New Jersey was recognized in *American Jurisprudence* as the one state where the enactment of the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities has abolished the common law outright. *See* 61 Am. Jur. 2d *Perpetuities, Etc.* § 12 (citing *Juliano & Sons Enters., Inc. v. Chevron, U.S.A., Inc.*, 250 N.J. Super. 148, 593 A.2d 814 (App. Div. 1991)). California, by contrast, eschewed the rule against perpetuities in commercial contexts long before adopting the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities. *See Wong v. Di Grazia*, 60 Cal. 2d 525, 533, 386 P.2d 817, 823 (1963). South Carolina, however, maintains a strong public policy against restraints on the free alienability of property. *See Sea Pines Plantation Co. v. Wells*, 294 S.C. 266, 270, 363 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1987) (“The historical disfavor of restrictive covenants by the law emanates from the widely held view that society's best interests are advanced by encouraging the free and unrestricted use of land.”); *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime*, 368 S.C. at 369, 628 S.E.2d at 917 (“Nonvested property interests tend to restrain the free alienability of property and interfere with

its beneficial use.”).

Instead of adopting the radical approaches taken by New Jersey or California, South Carolina’s Court of Appeals followed persuasive authority from North Carolina. In *New Bar Partnership v. Martin*, 729 S.E.2d 675 (N.C. Ct. App. 2012), the North Carolina Court of Appeals interpreted a prior version of the state’s Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities closely paralleling the SCUSRAP. The *New Bar* court held that because the Uniform Statutory Rule does not apply to nondonative transfers, and the CLRAP applies when the statute does not, the CLRAP governs those transfers. *Id.* at 683. While the North Carolina General Assembly later amended its statute to explicitly abolish the CLRAP (using the word “abolish”), *New Bar* remains controlling law under the earlier version of the statute. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 41-6.4(c)(2022) (“This section clarifies the intent of the General Assembly to abolish the common-law rule against perpetuities when it enacted Chapter 190 of the 1995 Session Laws, which enacted the Uniform Statutory Rule Against Perpetuities.”).

If South Carolina’s General Assembly intends to abolish the CLRAP entirely, it is within its legislative authority to do so. That decision, however, lies with the legislature, not the judiciary. See *Lindsay v. Nat’l Old Line Ins. Co.*, 262 S.C. 621, 628–29, 207 S.E.2d 75, 78 (1974) (“The construction of a statute is a judicial function and responsibility. Subject to constitutional limitations, the legislature has plenary power to amend a statute.”).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the CLRAP is not preempted by the SCUSRAP for nondonative transfers. The Purchase Option was therefore void under the CLRAP. Petitioner’s arguments provide no basis for disturbing the Court of Appeals’ well-reasoned decision.

II. The Court of Appeals Properly Determined That an Implied Term of Reasonable Time Cannot Be Read into the Purchase Option.

Petitioner maintains that nondonative transfers are not subject to any rule against perpetuities. Pet. Cert. 13. Under this logic, options to purchase real property could persist indefinitely, disrupting the alienability of property and interfering with its beneficial use—an outcome inconsistent with South Carolina’s public policy. See *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime*, 368 S.C. at 369, 628 S.E.2d at 917. Such an absurd result cannot reflect the Legislature’s intent when enacting the SCUSRAP. Alternatively, Petitioner argues that the Court should imply a reasonable time for the duration of the option to save the Purchase Option from violating the CLRAP. Pet. Cert. 13.

A. Petitioner’s argument to imply a reasonable time is not preserved.

As an initial matter, this argument is not preserved for appellate review, as it was neither addressed by the trial court nor raised in a motion to alter or amend. To preserve an issue for appeal, a party must demonstrate that the issue was: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) presented to the trial court with sufficient specificity. *Walterboro Cmty. Hosp. v. Meacher*, 392 S.C. 479, 493, 709 S.E.2d 71, 78 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301–02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007)). Even under a generous reading of the hearing transcript and Petitioner’s motion before the circuit court, this argument fails both the first and fourth prongs.

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the issue was adequately raised by Petitioner, the circuit court never ruled on it. Moreover, Petitioner failed to raise the issue in a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to give the circuit court an opportunity to address the matter. As South Carolina law makes clear, “[a]n issue is not preserved where the trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument and the appellant does not make a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment.” *Doe v. Roe*, 369

S.C. 351, 376, 631 S.E.2d 317, 330 (Ct. App. 2006).

Additionally, the issue was not presented to the circuit court with sufficient specificity to satisfy the fourth prong. To preserve an issue for review, it must be “sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.” *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). Petitioner’s vague or generalized references to the issue failed to meet this standard, leaving the circuit court without a meaningful opportunity to rule.

This Court, like the Court of Appeals, should not save Petitioner from a problem of its own making and overrule the circuit court on a matter not properly brought before it.

B. Implying a reasonable time is inconsistent with the purpose of the CLRAP and contradicts the terms of the Agreement.

Even if this argument were properly preserved, the imposition of a reasonable time term contradicts the very purpose of the CLRAP, which demands certainty in vesting. The CLRAP ensures predictability by invalidating interests that fail to vest within its strict parameters. A flexible “reasonable time” standard would undermine this certainty and inject unpredictability into property transactions. South Carolina law does not support such a deviation from established principles. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Petitioner’s argument to imply a reasonable time term.

Moreover, the Purchase Option expressly provides for a “perpetual option.” This unambiguous language reflects the parties’ intent to create an option of indefinite duration. There is no evidence to suggest that the parties intended to impose a reasonable time limit. The Court should not rewrite the agreement by implying a term that the parties did not negotiate or intend.³

³ Ironically, the New Jersey case that Spring Valley urges this Court to follow finds the agreement at issue there similarly could not be saved by a reasonable time limit. *See Juliano & Sons Enters.*,

For these reasons, the Court should reject Petitioner’s arguments. The Court of Appeals’ opinion is well-reasoned, supported by South Carolina law, and reached the correct result.

III. As an Alternate Sustaining Ground, Petitioner Waived Any Right Under the Purchase Option.

Petitioner’s failure to proceed with the sale after exercising the Purchase Option, agreeing to terms, and executing the Closing Documents constitutes a waiver of its right to enforce the option. The record shows that after TBFL paid a \$35,000 nonrefundable application fee, Petitioner exercised the Purchase Option. However, rather than proceed, Petitioner introduced new terms, knowing TBFL’s only choice was to accept or forfeit the refinance fee.

The transaction was not simple; it involved complex negotiations over tax consequences, business structure, expenses, and a co-tenancy agreement. (R. 355:10–357:4, 242:17–243:10). Despite these challenges and the parties’ differences in understanding, the parties reached an agreement on the fundamental terms, and the Closing Documents were signed before the refinance closing. (R. 355:10–357:4, 242:17–243:10). Petitioner’s failure to close after these agreements amounted to abandonment of its rights under the Purchase Option.

Petitioner’s action for specific performance of the Purchase Option rests in equity. *Ingram v. Kasey's Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 290 (2000) (citing *Collier v. Green*, 244 S.C. 367, 137 S.E.2d 277 (1964)). By exercising the option and then failing to close the agreement

Inc., 250 N.J. Super. at 153, 593 A.2d at 816–17 (“We recognize that the contract in this case, negotiated at arms length with the assistance of competent counsel, may well have contained clear manifestations of the parties’ intent and provides rights and obligations for the parties’ ‘successors and assigns.’ Further, the agreement provides that the right may be exercised whenever Gulf received a bona fide offer for the property ‘at any time hereafter.’ Thus, the agreement cannot be ‘saved’ in the traditional way by construction of a ‘reasonable’ time limit as a matter of fact or law. However, if the agreement is not subject to the rule against perpetuities, the parties’ intent and expectations can be effectuated without being declared void and unenforceable as a matter of law.”).

reached by the parties, Petitioner abandoned any right to demand specific performance of the Purchase Option, barring its claim. *S. Silica Min. & Mfg. Co. v. Hoefler*, 215 S.C. 480, 496, 56 S.E.2d 321, 327 (1949) (“A right once abandoned may not be revived without the consent of both parties.” (citation omitted)). Petitioner cannot now demand specific performance after abandoning the transaction. *Norton v. Matthews*, 249 S.C. 71, 80, 152 S.E.2d 680, 684 (1967) (“He who seeks equity must do equity.”).

Therefore, Petitioner’s waiver of its rights under the Purchase Option precludes its claim for specific performance and provides an alternative ground to affirm the circuit’s ruling.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals’ decision correctly applied South Carolina law in concluding that the Purchase Option is void under the CLRAP. There is no error of law or misinterpretation warranting this Court’s review. Accordingly, TBFL respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.